FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
3/11/2019 9:17 AM

96937-0

Court Of Appeals No. 35273-1-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff/Respondent,

vs.

THOMAS J. NELSON, Defendant/Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Diana Lundin
Attorney for Petitioner
WSBA#: 26394
Lundin Law PLLC
13300 Bothell-Everett Hwy.
Suite 303, #655
Mill Creek, WA 98012
(206) 849-0519
(425) 449-5950 (Fax)
E-Mail: dlundin@lundinlawpllc.com

A. Identity of Petitioner

Thomas John Nelson was convicted of driving under the influence after three separate trials in the East Wenatchee District Court following an arrest on January 20, 2014. The trial court denied his motion to suppress breath test evidence as the result of an unlawful search, which decision was affirmed on appeal by the Douglas County Superior Court and, in a split decision, by Division Three of the Washington State Court of Appeals.

B. Decision

Petitioner asks This Court to accept review and reverse the published decision of the Court of Appeals Division Three, issued on February 14, 2019, and amended on February 19, 2019.¹

Division Three adopted the federally-grounded analysis in <u>Birchfield vs.</u>

North Dakota, 136 S.Ct. 2160, 195 L.Ed.2d 560 (2016), to conclude that Mr. Nelson's breath test was the product of a constitutional search-incident-to-arrest (SITA). The majority rejected Mr. Nelson's contention that <u>State vs. Baird</u>, 187 Wash.2d 210, 386 P.3d 239 (2016), failed to apply independent state constitutional grounds under Article 1, Section 7. The majority also suggested that adopting Mr. Nelson's position would invalidate Washington's entire implied consent scheme, a contention he strongly disputes.

Chief Judge Lawrence-Berrey issued a dissenting opinion decrying the paucity of Baird's consideration for the enhanced privacy protections found in our

¹ A copy of the ruling with the order amending opinion is attached hereto as Appendix A. PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW Page 2

state jurisprudence, and arguing that the majority's warrant exception entirely subsumes the rule against unauthorized searches. Judge Lawrence-Berrey would give force to the often-cited proposition that warrant exceptions be applied narrowly and be "jealously guarded." He also recognized that our implied consent jurisprudence would survive, and possibly be more meaningful, without applying a categorical SITA exception.

C. Issues Presented for Review

Does Article 1 Section 7 demand a SITA exception narrowly-tailored to its underlying justifications to satisfy the Washington State constitutional prohibition against government interference into individual privacy without authority of law?

Is there a qualitative difference between the search of tangible objects and searching nebulous material such as breath alcohol concentrations locked inside a person's body, necessitating a non-categorical approach to warrantless searches incident to arrest?

D. Statement of the Case

Mr. Nelson was arrested after being stopped for speeding on the Obadashian Bridge. Even though his breath test results were under the legal limit (.078/.079), the State initiated a prosecution for driving under the influence. The first trial resulted in a hung jury. Mr. Nelson was convicted in a second trial, however his conviction was overturned on appeal due to prosecutorial misconduct.

Prior to the third trial, Mr. Nelson brought a motion to suppress the breath test on the basis that it resulted from an unconstitutional search. At the pretrial motion hearing on February 1, 2016, the officer confirmed that he did not seek judicial approval for a search warrant to secure a sample of Mr. Nelson's breath or blood. CP at 113.² Instead, he presented Mr. Nelson with Washington's Implied Consent warnings and requested submission to a test. The implied consent warnings informed Mr. Nelson, *inter alia*, that a refusal to submit to the test would result in a revocation of his driving privileges for at least one year (as opposed to 90 days upon a test result at/above .08), and that the refusal could penalize him in a criminal trial.³ CP at 110.

Officer Ward admitted that: 1) breath testing is not part of his search-incident-to-arrest (SITA) procedure (CP at 113); 2) a telephonic and/or electronic warrant process was available to him at the time of Mr. Nelson's arrest (CP at 114); 3) he was trained in how to obtain a search warrant for alcohol testing (CP at 113); 4) breath testing does not reveal the presence of weapons or prevent evidence destruction (CP at 112); 4) a person's alcohol concentration cannot be obtained through general proximity or contact. <u>Id.</u>

The State argued that breath testing *did not constitute a search* for constitutional purposes, distinguishing blood tests as more invasive. CP at 154-155. The prosecutor posited that because officers are statutorily required to read implied consent warnings before breath testing, constitutional consent "is just not

² "CP" refers to the Clerk's Papers filed in the Court of Appeals; relevant excerpts are attached hereto as Appendix B.

possible." He agreed that Mr. Nelson's consent was compelled because the implied consent law is "inherently coercive" (CP at 154) but argued that the defense failed to prove the statute unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt.⁴ The State did <u>not</u> contend that breath testing is justified as a SITA.

The trial court denied the defense suppression motion, ruling that RCW 46.20.308 was not unconstitutional "as applied to Mr. Nelson in this particular case." CP at 162. Judge McCauley did not explain the basis for that conclusion, nor did she make any factual findings, oral or otherwise, in support of her ruling as required by CrRLJ 3.6; likewise, the State did not offer any.

After a trial wherein the breath test was highly contested, the jury returned a guilty verdict. Mr. Nelson timely appealed to the Douglas County Superior Court and argued *inter alia* that the trial court erroneously admitted the breath test results. The Superior Court ruled that the breath test was properly admitted because no state court had yet found it an unconstitutional search under Washington State law,⁵ and that the remaining errors did not require a new trial.

Mr. Nelson's motion for discretionary review was granted by Division Three on the question of whether, under Article 1, Section 7 of the Washington State Constitution, a warrantless breath test is a permissible SITA. In a split decision the Court of Appeals held that This Court's plurality decision in <u>State vs.</u>

³ A breath test result is not only potential evidence of guilt but is a sentence enhancement. See RCW 46.61.517 and RCW 46.61.5055.

⁴ Mr. Nelson clarified that he was not arguing any facial invalidity of the statute, but rather an "as applied" challenge to the specific facts of his case.

Interestingly, the Superior Court, like the trial court, declined to undergo any analysis as part of its oral ruling. The Order on RALJ Appeal likewise contains no substantive analysis. CP at 736-737.

Baird, 187 Wash.2d 210, 386 P.3d 239 (2016), settled the question despite its fleeting reference to Article 1 Section 7.

E. Argument

1. Summary of Grounds for Review

RAP 13.4(b)(3) provides for appellate review where a lower court decision involves a significant question of law under the Washington State Constitution. As discussed below, the right to be free from warrantless searches is to be scrupulously guarded under Article 1, Section 7. An appellate court has split on the question of whether Article 1 Section 7 compels a different result than would be garnered under the Fourth Amendment balancing test announced in Birchfield vs. North Dakota, 136 S.Ct. 2160, 195 L.Ed.2d 560 (2016).6

The categorical extension of SITA's to breath testing constitutes a momentous upheaval of constitutional law and should not be dictated by default. State vs. Baird, 187 Wash. 2d 210, 386 P.3d 239 (2016), simply did not decide this issue because its holding relied on federal constitutional grounds. A careful review reveals that the <u>Baird</u> majority did not conduct any substantive evaluation of Article 1 Section 7; the Court devoted only one paragraph to SITAs:

In <u>Birchfield</u>, the Supreme Court considered whether criminal penalties for refusing to take a breath test under Minnesota's and North Dakota's implied consent laws were constitutional. The Court held that because the 'impact of breath tests on privacy is slight, and the need for BAC testing is great,' the Fourth Amendment permits breath tests as a search incident to arrest for drunk driving. <u>Id.</u> at 2184. Because a breath test is a permissible search incident to arrest, 'the **Fourth Amendment** did not require officers to

⁶ The question has also been raised before Division Two of the Washington Court of Appeals in the matter of <u>State of Washington vs. Rognlin</u>, 52834-7-II, where Mr. Rognlin's motion for discretionary review is currently pending.

⁷ To counsel's knowledge, no supplemental briefing or argument following publication of <u>Birchfield vs. North Dakota</u>, 136 S.Ct. 2160, 195 L.Ed.2d 560 (2016), was presented to This Court for consideration in Baird.

obtain a warrant prior to demanding the test, and [petitioner] had no right to refuse it.' <u>Id.</u> at 2186. A driver thus has no *constitutional* right to refuse a breath test because the breath tests fall under the search incident to arrest exception to the warrant requirement. <u>State vs. Baird</u>, 187 Wash. 2d 210, 222, 386 P.3d 239, 245–46 (2016) (italic emphasis in original; bold emphasis added).

"It is well established that Article I, Section 7 qualitatively differs from the Fourth Amendment and in some areas provides greater protections than does the federal constitution. Therefore, we have previously held that when a new issue arises pursuant to Article I, Section 7, parties and courts are not required to conduct a <u>Gunwall analysis</u> before engaging in an independent state law analysis on the merits. <u>State vs. Mayfield</u>, 434 P.3d 58, 65 (Wash. 2019) (internal citations omitted).

Likewise, RAP 13.4(b)(4) provides for appellate review of issues involving continuing and significant public interest "in order to provide future guidance to lower courts." In re Welfare of B.D.F., 126 Wash. App. 562, 569, 109 P.3d 464, 467 (2005), citing In re Marriage of Horner, 151 Wash.2d 884, 891, 93 P.3d 124 (2004). In Eide vs. Department of Licensing, 101 Wash. App. 218, 3 P.3d 208 (2000), the Court of Appeals reiterated the relevant analysis: "[i]n determining whether an issue involves a sufficient public interest, we consider the public or private nature of the question, the need for future guidance provided by an authoritative determination, and the likelihood of recurrence."

In <u>City of Mount Vernon vs. Mount Vernon Municipal Court</u>, 93 Wash. App. 501, 973 P.2d 3 (1998), Division One found a significant issue of public interest where the alleged error occurred approximately one hundred times per year. There, the question was the propriety of DUI prosecutions where breath test machines malfunction and the Court of Appeals concluded that recurring

instances of questionable evidentiary tests satisfied the public interest requirement.

Here, the right of Washington citizens to be protected from disclosure of intimate personal information without authority of law has widespread application in every case involving breath testing. In fact, This Court accepted direct interlocutory review in <u>Baird</u> because of its widespread application.⁸ An identical issue presents itself herein under independent state grounds. Of particular concern, the Court of Appeals appears to conclude that individual privacy expectations are necessarily and categorically subordinate to governmental interests in convenient evidence-gathering, without offering any justification for bypassing magisterial review. Respectfully, the citizens of this state disagree:

2. The Washington State Constitution Provides Enhanced Privacy Protections Beyond Its Federal Counterpart.

"Because article I, section 7 prohibits unlawful governmental intrusions into one's home or private affairs without express limitation, we have held that the 'authority of law' prong requires that exceptions to the warrant requirement be jealously guarded. State vs. Hendrickson, 129 Wash.2d 61, 72, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). This is in contrast to the Fourth Amendment, where the uncertain relationship between the reasonableness clause and the warrant clause has resulted consideration vacillation. at the federal between level. strictly

⁸ "The State petitioned King County Superior Court for an interlocutory writ of review; review was granted and the cases consolidated. In the interests of justice, the superior court requested direct review from this court, finding that the district court rulings substantially altered the status quo regarding thousands of breath test and breath test refusal DUI cases." State vs. Baird, 187 Wash. 2d at 210 (2016),

requiring warrants and applying a general reasonableness standard." State vs. Chenoweth, 160 Wash. 2d 454, 463, 158 P.3d 595, 600 (2007).

"A Washington court must presume that a warrantless search violates both the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 7 of the Washington State Constitution. The State carries the heavy burden to prove that a narrowly drawn exception to the warrant requirement applies to make the search lawful." State vs. VanNess, 186 Wash. App. 148, 344 P.3d 713 (2015).

"When parties allege violation of rights under both the United States and Washington Constitutions, this court will first independently interpret and apply the Washington Constitution in order, among other concerns, to develop a body of independent jurisprudence, and because consideration of the United States Constitution first would be premature." City of Seattle vs. Mesiani, 110 Wn.2d 454, 456, 755 P.2d 775 (1988) (emphasis added), citing State vs. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 364, 373–74, 679 P.2d 353 (1984).

"It is already well established that Article I, Section 7, of the State Constitution has broader application than does the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution." State vs. Ladson, 138 Wash.2d 343, 348, 979 P.2d 833 (1999) (internal citations omitted). "Our Supreme Court has held that Article I, Section 7 'clearly recognizes an individual's right to privacy with no express limitations, and places greater emphasis on privacy than does the Fourth Amendment." Robinson vs. City of Seattle, 102 Wash. App. 795, 809, 10 P.3d 452, 459–60 (2000) (internal citations omitted).

"When lines need to be drawn in creating rules, they should be drawn thoughtfully along the logical contours of the rationales giving rise to the rules, and not as artificial lines drawn elsewhere that are unrelated to those rationales." State vs. Rowell, 144 N.M. 371, 188 P.3d 95, 101 (2008). Applying this rule to the justifications underlying SITAs, it is clear that Washington's constitutional protection against unauthorized intrusions into individual privacy compels a result contrary to <u>Birchfield</u>.

3. Mr. Nelson's Breath Test Was The Product Of An Unjustified, Coercive, Warrantless Search.

a. Breath testing is a search requiring constitutional justification.

It has been firmly and finally determined that breath testing constitutes a search for constitutional purposes; the State's argument to the contrary in Mr. Nelson's case has been soundly rejected. *See Birchfield vs. North Dakota*, ---- U.S.----, 136 S.Ct. 2160, 195 L.Ed.2d 560 (2016); <u>State vs. Baird</u>, 187 Wash. 2d 210, 386 P.3d 239 (2016); <u>Skinner vs. Railway Labor Executive's Assoc.</u>, 489 U.S. 602, 109 S.Ct. 1402, 103 L.Ed.2d 639 (1989). Generally, warrantless

⁹ See Also State vs. O'Neill, 148 Wash.2d 564, 62 P.3d 489 (2003); Missouri vs. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552, 185 L.Ed.2d 696 (2013), citing Virginia vs. Moore, 553 U.S. 164, 128 S.Ct. 1598 (2008) (states may choose to protect privacy beyond the level required by the Fourth Amendment); State vs. Young, 123 Wash. 2d 173, 178–79, 867 P.2d 593, 596 (1994) ("The federal constitution provides the minimum protection afforded citizens against unreasonable searches by the government. Greater protection may be available under the Washington constitution.") (internal citations omitted); State vs. Morse, 156 Wash.2d 1, 10, 123 P.3d 832 (2005).

searches are *per se* unconstitutional, and only lawfully conducted under narrowly drawn exceptions. State vs. Walker, 136 Wash.2d 678, 965 P.2d 1049 (1998).

b. No exigency justified a warrantless search in Mr. Nelson's case.

Previous case law suggested the dissipation of alcohol created a *per se* exigency that justified dispensing with a search warrant, but the U.S. Supreme Court in <u>Missouri vs. McNeely</u>, 133 S.Ct. 1552, 1556, 185 L.Ed. 696 (2013), debunked this proposition. McNeely at 1556. Here, there were no "special facts" suggesting a warrant was unobtainable. Telephonic warrants are available where Mr. Nelson was arrested and the police investigation was not unusually delayed; the State has not alleged that a timely warrant was improbable.

c. Washington's Constitution does not permit warrantless searches of a person's internal body cavity incident to arrest.

An arrestee's alcohol concentration does not pose a safety danger to law enforcement officers and is not subject to imminent destruction by the subject; thus, there is no justification to require a breath test as a SITA. Searches-incident have been defined in Washington as:

...necessary to permit a search for weapons or destroyable evidence where a risk is posed because, should a weapon be secured or evidence of the crime destroyed, the arrest itself may likely be rendered meaningless—either because the arrestee will escape physical custody or because the evidence implicating the arrestee will be destroyed. State vs. Valdez, 167 Wash. 2d 761, 773, 224 P.3d 751, 757 (2009).

Washington law previously distinguished between searches of the person, which are generally permitted, and searches of locked containers, which are generally prohibited. For example, in <u>State vs. Byrd</u>, 178 Wn.2d 611, 310 P.3d

¹⁰ <u>Baird</u> acknowledged that previous state case authority was rooted in the <u>Schmerber</u> analysis and no longer legally sound; it instead adopted the <u>McNeely</u> totality of circumstances test for exigency. <u>State vs. Baird</u>, 187 Wash.2d at 245. Surprisingly, the Court of Appeals here continues to rely on outdated state caselaw premised on the <u>Schmerber</u> exigency justification.

793 (2013), the Court noted that searches of an arrestee's person and possessions are *per se* permissible because they *presumptively* enhance officer safety and eliminate the destruction of evidence.

On the other hand, this presumption has not been extended to locked containers. In both State vs. Valdez, 167 Wash.2d 761, 224 P.3d 751 (2009), and State vs. Van Ness, 186 Wash. App. 148, 344 P.3d 713 (2015), warrantless searches violated Article 1 Section 7 of Washington's Constitution because "[w]here a container is locked and officers have the opportunity to prevent the individual's access to the contents of that container so that officer safety or the preservation of evidence of the crime of arrest is not at risk, there is no justification under the search incident to arrest exception to permit a warrantless search of the locked container." State vs. VanNess, 186 Wash. App. 148, 344 P.3d 713 (2015).

Locked containers are not the only category of material exempted from SITAs. In <u>Riley vs. California</u>, 134 S.Ct. 2473, 189 L.Ed. 430, (2014), the United States Supreme Court departed from its earlier decision in <u>U.S. vs. Robinson</u>, 414 U.S. 218, 94 S.Ct. 467, 38 L.Ed. 427 (1973), and held that digital data in seized "smartphones" could not be searched without a warrant.

While recognizing the philosophical benefits of a *per se* SITA exception, the Court nonetheless found its application to this to "category of effects" would "untether the rule from underlying justifications." <u>Riley vs. California</u>, 134 S.Ct. at 2485. In reaching its conclusion, <u>Riley</u> considered the qualitative difference between physical objects and digital data, finding that the data itself could not

possibly increase the risk of either physical harm to officers or destruction of evidence. Riley at 2485.

Riley also recognized that, as with the content of locked containers and of an individual's lungs, data on cell phones is normally just as secure at the time of arrest and seizure as it is when a post-warrant search can be conducted. As the Court noted, "[the] need to effect the arrest, secure the scene and tend to other pressing matters means that law enforcement officers may well not be able to turn their attention to a cell phone right away." Riley vs. California 134 S.Ct. at 2487.

<u>Riley's narrowing of Robinson</u> was recognized by Washington courts in <u>State vs. VanNess</u>, 186 Wash. App. 148, 344 P.3d 713 (2015), which called into doubt state case law relying on <u>Robinson</u>. The Court noted: "the Supreme Court's subsequent decision in <u>Riley vs. California</u> significantly narrowed the primary authority cited in <u>Byrd</u> for the scope of a warrantless search incident to arrest." <u>State vs. VanNess</u>, 186 Wash. App. 148, 156, 344 P.3d 713, 718 (2015). 12

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