FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/10/2019 12:32 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 969370

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

THOMAS J. NELSON, PETITIONER

STATE'S ANSWER IN OPPOSITION TO THE PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT

W. GORDON EDGAR Prosecuting Attorney

C. KURT PARRISH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Douglas County Prosecuting Attorney's Office PO Box 360 Waterville, Washington 98858 (509) 745-8535

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

more detail *infra*) adopted the <u>Riley</u> court's non-categorical approach, and required a warrant for the locked box that the officer forcibly pried open with a screwdriver. <u>Id.</u> at 153, 164. Just as <u>Byrd</u> can be analogized to the categorical treatment in <u>Robinson</u>, so too can <u>State v. MacDicken</u>, 179 Wn.2d 936, 319 P.3d 31 (2014), where the Court upheld the search incident to arrest of a backpack even though the suspect had been removed from access to the item for at least ten minutes.

These examples all strengthen the point: Washington state courts and the United States Supreme Court reach consistent results when analyzing the search incident to arrest exception to the warrant requirement under both article I, section 7 and the Fourth Amendment.

The language This Court used in <u>Baird</u> makes it clear that it was, in fact, acknowledging our state courts' consistencies with the United States

Supreme Court: "The Supreme Court of the United States has recently decided this question for us: breath tests conducted subsequent to an arrest for DUI fall under the search incident to arrest exception..." 187 Wn.2d at 222. As a result, the <u>Birchfield</u> reasoning that a breath test is a search incident to arrest under the Fourth Amendment leads us to the same result in <u>Baird</u> under Article I, Section 7, and indeed, in Mr. Nelson's case.

Further, as to the specific privacy interest that Mr. Nelson is claiming is being infringed upon, the <u>Birchfield</u> court characterizes

exhalation as "not part of their bodies. Exhalation is a natural process—indeed, one that is necessary for life. Humans cannot hold their breath for more than a few minutes, and all the air that is breathed into a breath analyzing machine, including deep lung air, sooner or later would be exhaled even without the test." 136 S. Ct. at 2177.

Turning to the sixth factor, traffic crimes are committed on the streets and highways, and so there is substantially greater interstate potential for driving under the influence as compared to other criminal charges. Many individuals arrested for traffic crimes are from out of state, Washington being closely bordered by Idaho, Oregon and Canada; similarly, other nearby jurisdictions are also likely to encounter Washington residents committing traffic crimes within their borders.

Driving under the influence is far from a Washington-specific, local concern. As a result, in this context of searches incident to arrest and particularly under the umbrella of driving under the influence, Article I, Section 7 of the Washington State Constitution provides no greater protection than the Fourth Amendment.

Administration of a Warrantless Breath Test is Lawful Pursuant to the Search Incident to Arrest Exception to the Warrant Requirement

Mr. Nelson, who submitted to the breath test, contends that the results of the test must be suppressed because breath alcohol testing is

outside the scope of the search incident to arrest exception to the warrant requirement. Mr. Nelson's position is contrary to existing law.

Article I, Section 7 permits warrantless searches under certain "'jealously and carefully drawn' exceptions" to the warrant requirement.

State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 70, 817 P.2d 563 (1996).

The search incident to arrest exception to the warrant requirement when applied to the person and/or items in the person's immediate possession is a longstanding tenet of Washington law. "This court has, from the earliest times, followed the rule that articles, personal effects, or money, taken from the person of a defendant lawfully arrested may be used in evidence against him." Olympia v. Culp, 136 Wn. 374, 377-78, 240 P. 360 (1925). See also: State v. MacDicken, 179 Wn.2d 936, 940-41, 319 P.3d 31 (2014) ("A warrantless search of the arrestee's person is considered a reasonable search as part of the arrest of a person. Such a search presumes exigencies and is justified as part of the arrest; therefore it is not necessary to determine whether there are officer safety or evidence preservation concerns in that particular situation.")

This Court, in modern times, has followed the rule that officers may search an arrestee's person and articles closely associated with his or her person at the time of arrest without violating either the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution or Article I, Section 7 of the

Washington State Constitution. <u>Id.</u> at 938; <u>State v. Byrd</u>, 178 Wn.2d 611, 625, 310 P.3d 793 (2013).

Both in early statehood and in modern times, a warrantless search of the arrestee's person is presumed to be justified by the arrest itself.

Byrd, 178 Wn.2d at 618. It is further presumed that the search is necessary for officer safety and evidence preservation. Id. With regards to alcohol, which is rapidly absorbed within the human body, the necessity to preserve evidence that supports the search incident to arrest doctrine clearly exists. If a breath sample is not collected in a timely manner, the evidence will be lost.

This is not to say that the search incident to arrest doctrine has no limits. Such searches must be reasonable in "scope and manner of execution." Maryland v. King, 569 U.S. 435, 448 133 S. Ct. 1958, 1970, 186 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2013). An exception to the warrant requirement does not give the arresting officer carte blanche; it merely changes the applicable standard from a rule of per se unreasonableness to a test balancing privacy interests against law enforcement interests. Id. The more intrusive the search, the greater likelihood that a warrantless intrusion will be found unreasonable. King, 569 U.S. at 448.

When the search involves nudity or a surgical intrusion beneath the skin, a warrant will generally be required. <u>King</u>, 569 U.S. at 446. Though

even warrantless searches that involve nudity or a surgical entry into the body can be lawfully conducted. These searches require arrest plus some other exigency. See, e.g., Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. 141, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 185 L. Ed. 2d 696 (2013) (warrantless venipuncture requires arrest and an exigency other than mere alcohol dissipation).

Mr. Nelson cites to <u>State v. VanNess</u>, 186 Wn. App. 148, 344 P.3d 713 (2015) for the proposition that the locked container at issue in that case is akin to the air being blown into the BAC instrument following a DUI arrest. This analogy is inapt. In <u>VanNess</u>, the officer used a flathead screwdriver to forcibly pry open a locked box which had been found in the defendant's backpack and then look inside the box, where he found evidence of controlled substances. <u>Id.</u> at 153. The considerations of a court during a search incident to arrest analysis include the privacy interests at stake in a particular search. <u>Id.</u> at 159. The <u>VanNess</u> court cited extensively to the United States Supreme Court's opinion in <u>Riley v. California</u>, 573 U.S. 373, 134 S.Ct. 2473, 2484, 189 L.Ed.2d 430 (2014). <u>Riley</u> involved the search of data contained within cellular phones. As the

"[c]ell phones differ in both a quantitative and a qualitative sense from other objects that might be kept on an arrestee's person ... The storage capacity of cell phones has several interrelated consequences for privacy. First, a cell phone collects in one place many distinct types of information — an address, a note, a prescription, a bank statement, a video – that reveal much more in combination than any isolated record. Second, a cell phone's capacity allows even just one type of information to convey far more than previously possible. The sum of an individual's private life can be reconstructed through a thousand photographs labeled with dates, locations, and descriptions ... Third, the data on a phone can date back to the purchase of the phone, or even earlier."

Id. at 2489.

The alcohol content of one's breath is not even comparable to the data that can be gathered from the search of an individual's modern cell phone. Mr. Nelson can claim no privacy violation in his case. He admitted to consuming alcohol prior to driving. CP at 195-196. The arresting officer could smell the odor of the alcohol emanating from Mr. Nelson's person.

Id. He admitted to consuming the alcohol earlier in the day while golfing.

Id. Presumably, this took place in a public sphere where there were others who observed his consumption. He voluntarily performed field sobriety tests that indicated to the officer that he had been consuming alcohol. Id. at 199, 213. The officer knew that Mr. Nelson had alcohol in his breath; he could smell it, and Mr. Nelson admitted it. The only information the officer then sought was how much alcohol was in his breath. Mr. Nelson agreed to divulge that information. The information was not forcibly obtained by physically breaking a lock as it was in VanNess; nor was it

gathered from an intimately private location such as the cell phone in Riley.

The search incident to arrest is the logical exception to the warrant requirement in this area, particularly as RCW 46.20.308 is by necessity triggered by an arrest. See RCW 46.20.308(1); RCW 46.20.308(7) (unlawfulness of arrest will prevent administrative action against person's license).

While Mr. Nelson compares breath testing to a search of a cellular phone or a locked container, upon scrutiny of the important distinctions, the analogy is strained at best. First, the contents of a locked container or smartphone are not subject to destruction. In contrast, as the forensic scientist from the Washington State Patrol Toxicology Laboratory stated at trial in the present case, breath alcohol concentration is regularly destroyed by the body at a rate of approximately .01 to .02 per hour depending upon the subject. CP at 398. When the 'per se' prong of RCW 46.61.502 requires the breath test to be administered within two hours of driving, and over a .085, every loss in value is significant. Second, unlike locked containers and smartphones, which one keeps the contents of hidden away from the public, a person's breath is regularly exhaled and

⁵ RCW 46.61.502(1)(a).

exposed to the public. As the Supreme Court has noted:

Humans have never been known to assert a possessory interest in or any emotional attachment to *any* of the air in their lungs. The air that humans exhale is not part of their bodies. Exhalation is a natural process—indeed, one that is necessary for life. Humans cannot hold their breath for more than a few minutes, and all the air that is breathed into a breath analyzing machine, including deep lung air, sooner or later would be exhaled even without the test.

Birchfield, 136 S. Ct. at 2177 (emphasis in original).

In sharp contrast, humans do not walk about the streets of society showing every passerby the contents of their entire smartphone.

Accordingly, the two are simply not comparable.

Finally, a driver's expectation of privacy is diminished at the time of the test because the procedures necessarily follow a lawful arrest for DUI. See State v. White, 44 Wn. App. 276, 278, 722 P.2d 118 (1986) (holding that arrested persons have a diminished expectation of privacy). Thus, the State's interest in enforcing DUI laws through the implied consent statute is even more compelling because both the federal and state constitutions contemplate a balancing test between the level of intrusion and the justifications for its performance. See Bell v. Wolfish, 441 U.S. 520, 559, 99 S. Ct. 1861, 60 L. Ed. 2d 447 (1979) (holding that the Fourth Amendment requires "a balancing of the need for the particular search against the invasion of personal rights that the search entails."); see State

v. Duncan, 146 Wn.2d 166, 177, 43 P.3d 513 (2002) (holding that article I, section 7 permits a higher level of police intrusion for higher risk crimes).

B. Washington's Implied Consent Statute is Constitutional Under Article I, Section 7.

This Court has previously upheld Washington's implied consent law as constitutional. In <u>State v. Moore</u>, 79 Wn. 2d 51, 483 P.2d 630 (1971), the Court held that the statute (1) was a valid exercise of police power; (2) did not violate the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination; and (3) was not rendered unconstitutional by purporting to impliedly waive a constitutional right (against self-incrimination). <u>Id.</u> at 54-58. This Court also held that "[w]hether an accused's consent to the [breath] test be voluntary or involuntary, the law ... is constitutionally sustainable ..." <u>Id.</u> at 57-58.

At trial, the court admitted the breath test result. Whether Mr. Nelson's breath test was admissible under RCW 46.20.308, the implied consent statute, is a legal issue. Below, Nelson argued that his consent to the breath test was not actual consent as applied to these facts. CP at 148-149. As Petitioner points out, it is true that at the suppression hearing, the prosecutor acknowledged that advising a suspect like Mr. Nelson about the administrative penalties for refusing a breath test was inherently

coercive, and that actual consent was not possible. CP at 154. But of course, an appellate court is not bound by an erroneous concession of law. State v. Lewis, 62 Wn. App. 350, 351, 814 P.2d 232 (1991).

Washington has long recognized the Implied Consent Statute as a constitutional means for gathering breath test evidence from suspected impaired drivers. As stated previously, the most recent case finding our implied consent statute constitutional is State v. Baird, 187 Wn.2d 210, 386 P.3d 239 (2016). A six-justice majority in Baird agreed our implied consent was constitutional—reversing the trial court's suppression order, which, importantly, was based on Article 1, Section 7. The Baird plurality wrote, "In exchange for the privilege of driving on Washington's roadways, drivers agree and have notice that their refusal to consent to a statutorily requested breath test may be used as evidence of guilt at a criminal trial."

Baird at 226, citing State v. Long, 113 Wn.2d 266, 272-73, 778 P.2d 1027 (1989). Any right to refuse exists only as a statutory right by virtue of the implied consent statute. Baird at 229.

Drivers impliedly consent to breath testing by driving on the roadway and by driving under circumstances that amount to probable cause to believe they are intoxicated. In short, Mr. Nelson's consent occurred when the conditions in the statute were met—not at the later time when the officer asked whether he would cooperate with the test by providing a breath

sample. Whether Mr. Nelson felt coerced to take the test after being reminded of the implied consent law is irrelevant. Mr. Nelson's *earlier* choice to drive impaired triggered his consent under the statute.

In addition to a majority of This Court in <u>Baird</u> upholding the Implied Consent Statute, neither the <u>Baird</u> plurality or concurrence question, much less overrule, prior cases finding Washington's implied consent statute constitutional.

The facts of <u>Baird</u> and the facts of the present case are functionally the same. <u>Baird</u> involved a stop on SR 167 in south King County for a combination of lane travel issues and speeding. 187 Wn.2d at 215. Mr. Nelson was stopped on SR 2 after crossing the Columbia River into Douglas County. CP at 186-187. While on the bridge, he was traveling nearly eighty miles per hour in a fifty mile per hour zone and flashing his high beams. CP at 183-184. Both Baird and Nelson exhibited the odors of intoxicants. 187 Wn.2d at 215; CP at 188. Both Baird and Mr. Nelson admitted to consuming alcohol prior to driving. 187 Wn.2d at 215; CP at 196. Both Baird and Mr. Nelson performed voluntary field sobriety tests. 187 Wn.2d at 215; CP at 199. Both Baird and Mr. Nelson were read the statutory implied consent warnings and were given the option to take the breath test. 187 Wn.2d at 215; CP at 220-221. Both Baird and Mr. Nelson provided breath samples. 187 Wn.2d at 216; CP at 222.

V. CONCLUSION

Fundamentally, Mr. Nelson is asking this Court to reverse decades of precedent in the State of Washington, and effectively ban the use of breath test evidence absent a warrant. Such is the exact *opposite* of what This Court declared in <u>Baird</u>. Instead, it determined that breath testing is a search incident to arrest – under both the Washington and United States Constitutions. Mr. Nelson has not made a sufficient showing under RAP 13.4(b) that this determination must be reevaluated.

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court to deny the Petition for Review.